FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
4/2/2020 3:33 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/3/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98362-3

Appellate Court No. 52293-4-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LORI MACKEY, Appellant

V.

HOME DEPOT USA, INC. dba THE HOME DEPOT STORE#4718, JAMIE KRALL, and JENNIFER ILES, Respondents.

APPELLANT'S PETITION TO REVIEW DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL FOR DIVISION TWO

Moloy K. Good, WSBA No. 36036 THE GOOD LAW CLINIC, PLLC 7017 NE Highway 99, Suite 106 Vancouver, WA 98665 360-694-4530 Counsel for Appellant

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

This case presents the following issues for review:

1. Whether the Decision conflicts with decisions of this Court,

pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), that adopt the McDonnell Douglas burden-

shifting framework for employment discrimination cases when it concluded

that the Petitioner failed to establish a genuine issue of material fact that the

Respondents' decision to terminate her was a pretext for disability

discrimination or retaliation for complaining about disability

discrimination.

2. Whether the Decision conflicts with decisions of this Court,

pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), when it concluded that the Petitioner failed to

establish a genuine issue of material fact that the Respondents' decision to

terminate her was a pretext for her public-policy linked activity.

3. Whether the Decision conflicts with decisions of this Court,

pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), when it concluded that the Petitioner failed to

establish a genuine issue of material fact that the Respondents had failed to

reasonably accommodate Petitioner's disability.

4. Whether the Decision involves an issue of substantial public

interest that should be determined by this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL: APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - Page 5 of 23

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

FACTUAL HISTORY: Lori Mackey worked for Home Depot for

approximately eight years, starting in 2006 until her termination in October

2014. CP 127. During her employment, she received positive annual

reviews. She also did not have any disciplinary action taken against her.

CP 132. During the time that she worked for Defendants, Mackey had the

following disabilities: depression; post-traumatic stress disorder; and

degenerative disc disease. CP 128. Mackey provided Defendants with the

requisite medical documentation to show evidence of her disabilities which

required reasonable accommodations. CP 128.

Mackey was provided accommodations related to her depression and

post-traumatic stress disorder including a scheduling accommodation, a five-

days-in-a-row accommodation, and part-time work. RP 4-5. Mackey

requested an accommodation due to her physical disability because she could

not lift anything over fifteen pounds, and could not lift items over her head.

CP 128. Mackey was repeatedly given jobs that required heavy lifting and/or

lift items above her head. CP 128. In order to perform the tasks required for

her job, Mackey needed to ask other employees to help her because she was

unable to perform the tasks. CP 128.

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL:

The Good Law Clinic, PLLC WSBA#36036 / OSB#012636 7017 NE Highway 99, Suite 106 Vancouver, WA 98665

Phone: (360) 694-4530 Facsimile: (360) 694-4659

E-mail: moloy@goodlawclinic.com

When Mackey started working she was informed that she was

authorized to give discounts up to \$50.00 to any customer. CP 129. Mackey

was also informed that volume discounts existed where a customer could

obtain a discount if the customer wanted to purchase a package of products

above a certain dollar amount. *Id.* Defendants' policy was that if a customer

wanted to obtain a volume discount, the customer would select and identify

the products he or she wanted, Mackey would submit the request to the bid

desk to get a price for the package of products being purchased, and the price

from the bid desk would be lower than the marked price on the sales floor. *Id.*

A customer was allowed to inquire about multiple product packages and could

receive multiple bids from the bid desk. CP 130-131. During her

employment, Mackey assisted multiple customers with receiving discounted

bids from the bid desk. CP 131. At no time during her employment did

Mackey ever unilaterally provide a customer with a volume bid discount. *Id*.

After a bid discount was provided to a customer, Mackey would

separate the items which were awarded a discount from those that were not.

This allowed products that were immediately available to be delivered, and

the products that were not immediately available to be ordered. *Id.* Despite

Mackey's best attempts to ensure that no double dipping occurred, there were

times that customers would receive an additional discount at the cash register

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL:

if the cashier scanned a discount code that was not on the order. *Id.* Mackey

alerted defendant Home Depot's operation manager about "double dipping"

that occurred on some of her sales due to the cashier scanning a coupon that

was not on the order, and Mackey was told that the operations manager would

look into it. Id.

There was an occasion when Mackey provided an additional discount

to a customer who had previously purchased a refrigerator and the

replacement refrigerator was more expensive than the original refrigerator.

However, in that instance Mackey spoke with a supervisor who told her to

apply the discount. *Id*. On the occasion where Mackey provided a customer

with a volume discount, even after the customer failed to purchase enough

items from the order to justify the discount, Mackey immediately alerted a

supervisor who told her not to worry about it and to not do it in the future. CP

131-132.

Mackey was given semi-annual reviews from Defendants. In her

March 2014 review, Mackey was originally given an "O" rating which stood

for Top Performer and was the highest rating. CP 133. In her September 2014

review, Mackey was also given an "O" rating. Id. Mackey did not ever

receive a review which had any discussion of any unjustified discounts being

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL: APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - Page 8 of 23

given to customers nor was Mackey ever reprimanded for giving customers

improper discounts. Id.

On September 26, 2014, Krall verbally berated and attacked Mackey.

CP 132. Mackey told Krall that she could not think clearly when being

attacked due to her disabilities. *Id*. Instead of changing her behavior or tactics,

Krall told Mackey "We all have problems." *Id*. Even though Mackey started

to cry, Krall did not stop berating and yelling at Mackey until another manager

came into the room and told Krall that she was being inappropriate. *Id*. The

next day Mackey told the store manager about the incident with Krall and he

told Mackey that he would take care of it. *Id*.

The store manager's way of "taking care of it" was to start an

investigation into Mackey and her employment. This investigation was then

used to terminate Mackey.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY: Mackey filed a complaint against

Respondents for disability discrimination and wrongful discharge in violation

of public policy. Respondents moved for summary judgment on all claims.

The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Respondents.

Mackey appealed.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court, concluding that

Respondents' allegation that Mackey had given improper discounts to

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL:

Vancouver, WA 98665

customers, was a legitimate, nondiscriminatory, non-retaliatory, and non-public policy-linked, and that Mackey had not produced sufficient evidence of pretext.

V.

ARGUMENT

A. The Decision improperly determined that the Petitioner failed to establish a genuine issue of material fact that the Respondents' purported decision to terminate her was a pretext for disability discrimination or retaliation for complaining about disability discrimination.

To show Mackey was terminated because of her disability she must first show that (1) she had, or was perceived as having, a disability; (2) she was able to perform the essential functions of her job, with reasonable accommodation; and (3) the circumstances give rise to a reasonable inference that her disability or requests for accommodation were a substantial factor for her termination. *Barnes v. Wash. Natural Gas Co.*, 22 Wn. App. 576, 583, 591 P.2d 461 (1979). In the absence of direct evidence of discriminatory intent, courts use the *McDonnell-Douglas* burden-shifting framework to analyze discrimination claims at the summary judgment stage. *Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 138, 150, 94 P.3d 930 (2004).

Mackey must make out the *prima facie* elements described above. The

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL: APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - Page 10 of 23

The Good Law Clinic, PLLC WSBA#36036 / OSB#012636 7017 NE Highway 99, Suite 106 Vancouver, WA 98665 Phone: (360) 694-4530

Facsimile: (360) 694-4659 E-mail: moloy@goodlawclinic.com burden then shifts to the employer to show a legitimate non-discriminatory

reason for the termination. *Id.* If the Respondents show such a reason the

burden shifts back to Mackey to offer evidence that the proffered reason is

a pretext for discrimination. Id. These are burdens of production, not

persuasion. The burden may be met with direct or circumstantial evidence.

Scrivener v. Clark Coll., 181 Wn.2d 439, 445, 334 P.3d 541 (2014).

In its Decision, the Court of Appeals, contrary to the trial court,

found that Mackey had established her prima facie case. The Court of

Appeals next found that the Respondents had articulated a legitimate, non-

discriminatory reason for Mackey's termination, namely that she had

purportedly violated the company's policy on giving customer discounts.

The Court of Appeals, however, declined to find that the Petitioner

had established facts that create a genuine issue of material fact as to

whether the Respondents' decision was pretext for illegal discrimination.

However, the Decision overlooks several facts produced by Mackey that do

create a genuine issue of material fact.

First, Mackey denied that she had violated the company's policy

with regard to customer discounts. In fact, Mackey contended that the data

Respondents were viewing was inaccurate and misleading with regard to

the actual discounts given to customers. Courts have held that when an

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL:

The Good Law Clinic, PLLC WSBA#36036 / OSB#012636

7017 NE Highway 99, Suite 106 Vancouver, WA 98665 Phone: (360) 694-4530

Facsimile: (360) 694-4659

employee disputes the employer's articulated reason for termination, it can

be sufficient to create an issue of material fact whether or not the employer's

decision was pretextual. In Stallings v. Hussman Corp. the employee

sought FMLA leave so he could (1) move his sick father to a new home,

and (2) that he could provide for his father's care. Stallings v. Hussman

Corp., 447 F.3d 1041, 1044-1045 (8th Cir. 2006). In actual fact, Stallings

did not help his father move, but he did provide care for his father while on

leave. Id. at 1045. The employer terminated Stallings because it claimed

he had lied about why he was using FMLA leave. *Id.* The 8th Circuit held

that the dispute about what Stallings told his employer about why he needed

FMLA leave was a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the

employer's reasons for terminating Stallings was a pretext for retaliation or

not. Id. at 1053.

The 6th Circuit has similarly held that an employee's dispute of the

validity of the reason for their termination can create a material issue of fact

regarding pretext. In Yazdian v. ConMed Endoscopic Techs. Inc., the

employee was terminated after he had made a hostile work environment

complaint. Yazdian v. ConMed Endoscopic Techs. Inc., 793 F.3d 634, 644

(6th Cir. 2015). In that case the employer claimed it terminated Yazdian for

insubordination, and Yazdian disputed that claim. The court determined

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL:

WSBA#36036 / OSB#012636 7017 NE Highway 99, Suite 106

Vancouver, WA 98665 Phone: (360) 694-4530 Facsimile: (360) 694-4659

The Good Law Clinic, PLLC

that "[a] jury could reasonably conclude that Yazdian's behavior was not so

bad as to warrant termination . . . A jury could also decide [the employer]

was monitoring Yazdian's behavior and that Yazdian's failure to improve

was the actual reason for the adverse employment action." Id. at 653.

Therefore, the court denied summary judgment to the employer.

This reasoning was followed in *Hubbell v. FedEx SmartPost Inc.*

where the employee claimed that disciplinary write ups and negative

performance evaluations she received were fabricated by her managers.

Hubbell v. FedEx SmartPost Inc., 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 75138, *37 (E.D.

Mich. 2016). The court there found that the employee's dispute of the

validity of these write ups and evaluations was sufficient to create a genuine

issue of material fact as to pretext. *Id.* at *37-38.

These cases are analogous to the present case. Like in *Stallings*,

Yazdian, and Hubbell, the Respondents claim Mackey improperly gave

customers discounts. Mackey denies that she did this, and in fact that the

investigation was based upon inaccurate and misleading data. Whether or

not Mackey actually did or did not give improper discounts is a factually

disputed issue. The resolution of this issue, one way or another, could

influence a jury's decision as to whether Respondents were justified in

terminating Mackey. If the jury were to credit Respondents' version of

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL:

The Good Law Clinic, PLLC WSBA#36036 / OSB#012636

7017 NE Highway 99, Suite 106 Vancouver, WA 98665 Phone: (360) 694-4530

Facsimile: (360) 694-4659

events, they could, and likely would, find that no discrimination had

occurred. However, if the jury believed Mackey, they could infer that the

Respondents' false reason for terminating Mackey was a pretext for their

real reason, discrimination.

Second, although Respondents conducted an investigation into the

discounts Mackey had given, there are issues with this investigation that,

along with Mackey's denial of wrongdoing and other facts, create a genuine

issue of material fact regarding pretext. One issue is that Mackey was never

interviewed about how she gave discounts. She was only informed of the

results of the investigation, and then terminated the next day. Immediately

after her termination Mackey did write a response to the investigation

results, but there is no evidence this was ever considered by Respondents.

A failure to conduct a fair investigation into an employee's alleged

misconduct, particularly a failure to consider the employee's side of things,

can give rise to an inference of pretext.

In Masto v. Potomac Elec. Power Co., the employee was terminated

for allegedly lying about when he learned that one of his subordinates was

in jail. Masto v. Potomac Elec. Power Co., 447 F.3d 843, 847-849 (D.C.

Cir. 2006). The employer conducted an investigation into this factual

dispute and ultimately concluded Masto was being untruthful. However,

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL:

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - Page 14 of 23

The Good Law Clinic, PLLC WSBA#36036 / OSB#012636 7017 NE Highway 99, Suite 106

Vancouver, WA 98665 Phone: (360) 694-4530 Facsimile: (360) 694-4659

the employer did not interview Masto himself, although it interviewed

several other employees. This fact led the court to conclude that the failure

to interview Masto made the investigation unfair and flawed. Id. at 855.

The court noted that an evenhanded investigation may have revealed that

the discrepancy in the different versions may have been the result of "faulty

presuppositions and interpretations" that could have been cleared up with a

thorough investigation. Id. at 855 n.8. See also, Toppert v. Northwest

Mech. Inc., 968 F.Supp.2d 1001, 1026-1027 (S.D. Iowa 2013) (employer

failed to take employee's response to allegation of misconduct into

account); Yazdian, supra at 654 (employer terminated employee without

interviewing employee about allegations of insubordination); Trujillo v.

PacifiCorp., 524 F.3d 1149, 1160 (10th Cir. 2008) (employer never gave

employees the benefit of the doubt and relied only on evidence detrimental

to employees).

In the present case, Mackey was not interviewed about the

allegations she had given improper customer discounts. Had she been

interviewed, she could have explained the process she went through, the

steps she took, and why the data in Respondents' computer system may not

accurately reflect the discounts that were ultimately given to customers.

The failure of the Respondents to conduct such an interview with Mackey

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL:

is a fact from which a jury could conclude the Respondents' investigation

was unfair or flawed.

Another issue is that Mackey was never warned that she was giving

discounts improperly prior to her termination. This failure to warn was a

critical fact in Daoud v. Avamere Staffing & Home Care where the

employee was terminated purportedly due to complaints by clients. *Daoud*

v. Avamere Staffing & Home Care, 336 F.Supp.2d 1129, 1137 (D. Or.

2004). In that case the court found that the mere fact there were complaints

from clients did not "conclusively establish this allegation." Id. No one

had told the employee about the complaint until a week after it was made,

and immediately after the employee requested an accommodation. *Id.* The

court noted that the employer was not required to give the employee a

warning or tell her about the client complaints, but the failure to do so

"supports a reasonable inference the complaints did not trigger the

plaintiff's termination." *Id*.

In the present case, Mackey was also not told there were issues with

her discounting practices, and the initial question about her discounting

policies came up less than a week before she was terminated. These facts

at least raise a triable issue of fact whether or not Macey's customer

discounts truly triggered her termination.

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL: APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - Page 16 of 23

The Good Law Clinic, PLLC WSBA#36036 / OSB#012636 7017 NE Highway 99, Suite 106

Vancouver, WA 98665 Phone: (360) 694-4530

Facsimile: (360) 694-4659

Third, the Court of Appeals overlooked Mackey's positive

performance history in assessing whether there were genuine issues of

material fact regarding pretext. The evidence showed that Mackey had

worked at Home Depot for approximately eight years. She did not have any

disciplinary action taken against her in that time, and she had received

multiple positive annual reviews, including receiving the top rating in the

two evaluations immediately preceding her termination. Mackey's positive

performance history at the time of her termination can create a fact issue as

to pretext. *Ridout v. JBS USA, LLC*, 716 F.3d 1079, 1084 (8th Cir. 2013).

Contrary to the conclusion of the Court of Appeals, Mackey

presented multiple pieces of evidence that raise genuine issues of material

fact as to whether Respondents' stated reason for terminating her were

pretextual as not. As such, the Decision should be reversed.

В. The Decision improperly determined that the Petitioner failed to establish a genuine issue of material fact that the

Respondents' purported decision to terminate her was a pretext

for her public-policy linked actions.

Washington courts have long recognized an exception to the

"at will" doctrine for terminations that violate a public policy where:

(1) the discharge was the result of refusing to commit an illegal act;

(2) the discharge resulted due to the employee performing a public

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL:

The Good Law Clinic, PLLC WSBA#36036 / OSB#012636 duty or obligation; (3) the termination resulted because the employee

exercised a legal right or privilege; and (4) the discharge was premised

on employee "whistleblowing" activity. *Dicomes v. State*, 113 Wn.2d

612, 618, 782 P2d 1002 (Wash. 1989).

Washington courts have employed a burden-shifting analysis

for wrongful discharge claims similar to that employed in

discrimination cases. As such, the arguments made in Part A above

are equally relevant here and Mackey references them as though set

forth fully in this part. In short, Mackey produced ample evidence

that, especially when viewed as a whole, raise genuine issues of

material fact as to whether the Respondents decision to terminate her

was a pretext for discharging her for her public policy linked actions.

C. The Decision improperly determined that the Petitioner failed to establish a genuine issue of material fact that the Respondents

had failed to reasonably accommodate Petitioner's disability.

Washington law requires that a party alleging a failure to

provide a reasonable accommodation prove: (1) the party is disabled;

(2) that she is qualified to perform the essential functions of the job;

(3) that she gave her employer notice of her disability and its

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL: APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - Page 18 of 23

accompanying limitations and (4) upon notice, the employer failed to

accommodate the disability. Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc., 152 Wn.2d

138, 145 (2004). In short, the employer must affirmatively adopt

measures that are available and necessary to accommodate the

employee's disability. Id. There is no dispute that Mackey was

disabled, that she was qualified to perform the essential functions of

the job, and that she gave notice to Home Depot of her disability and

its accompanying limitations. The parties do dispute whether

defendant Home Depot's accommodation of allowing Mackey to ask

others to help her perform the essential tasks of her job was sufficient.

It undermines the purpose of reasonable accommodation to require an

employee on their own to go out and get help from co-workers to

perform the tasks which she was assigned. RP 20. Home Depot did

not actually provide Mackey with any accommodation, in fact after

Mackey told Home Depot of her physical disability, Home Depot

employees continued to assign Mackey tasks which she could not

perform as a result of her disability. CP 141.

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL: APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - Page 19 of 23

The Good Law Clinic, PLLC

In Kermini v. International Health Care Props. XXIII Ltd.

Pshp., the Washington Court of Appeals held that an employee with

lifting restrictions could be entitled to a reasonable accommodation of

additional staff. 1999 Wash. App. LEXIS 581, *11-13 (Wash. App.

1999). Mr. Kermini hurt his back while moving a patient. His doctor

cleared him to return to work with lifting restrictions, however, the

employer insisted that lifting was an essential function of the job. His

employer even provided him a mechanical lifting device to use to lift

patients, but Mr. Kermini refused to use it. Mr. Kermini was

ultimately terminated. The Court held that a reasonable jury could

find that a reasonable accommodation in the form of hiring more

assistants to help Mr. Kermini was feasible and that the employer

failed to provide it. *Id.* at 13.

The record of the instant case tracks closely with *Kermini*.

Mackey requested a reasonable accommodation that defendants

provide additional staffing to help her with the lifting tasks defendants

assigned to her. Respondents contend that they did accommodate

Mackey by allowing her, on her own, to ask other employees for help

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL: APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - Page 20 of 23

The Good Law Clinic, PLLC WSBA#36036 / OSB#012636 7017 NE Highway 99, Suite 106 Vancouver, WA 98665 lifting items. However, Respondents did not take any affirmative step

to provide Mackey with an accommodation. Instead they merely sent

her out to accommodate herself.

D. The decision of the Court of Appeals involves an issue of

substantial public interest that should be determined by this

Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The Decision's conclusions have serious consequences for the rights

of Washington citizens by compromising an employee's right to a jury trial

in discrimination, retaliation, and wrongful discharge cases. The Decision's

analysis of pretext, and the evidence required to create a genuine issue of

material fact, is unduly narrow, and would subvert the right of employees

to workplaces free of discrimination and retaliation, and workplaces that do

not impede the public-policy related actions of employees.

VI.

CONCLUSION

The Decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the decisions

of this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), and the decision involves an issue

of substantial pubic interest that should be determined by this Court

52293-4-II /. 16-2-00574-1; MACKEY V HOPE DEPOT USA INC, ET AL: APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW - Page 21 of 23

pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4). Petitioner therefore respectfully requests that this Court accept discretionary review of this matter.