FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/4/2020 12:22 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98362-3

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LORI MACKEY,

Plaintiff-Appellant

v.

HOME DEPOT USA, INC., dba THE HOME DEPOT STORE #4718, JAMIE KRALL and JENNIFER ISLES,

Defendants-Respondents

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

D. Michael Reilly WSBA No. 14674 Sean D. Jackson WSBA No. 33615 Per D. Jansen WSBA No. 49966 Attorneys for Respondents

LANE POWELL PC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 P.O. Box 91302 Seattle, WA 98111-9402 Telephone: 206.223.7000

Facsimile: 206.223.7107

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

III. ARGUMENT WHY THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED

The Opinion does not conflict with any Washington case law, nor does it raise an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b). The Petition gives lip service to RAP 13.4(b)'s criteria for review, hardly discusses the decision below, and fails to identify any conflicting decisions or substantial public interest. The Petition should be denied.

A. Mackey Failed to Present Evidence of Pretext or Lack of Good Faith Regarding Home Depot's Legitimate Decision to Terminate Her Employment Based on Its Investigation.

Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals properly decided that Home Depot articulated a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for terminating Mackey's employment. *McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green*, 411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973). It is undisputed that the decision to terminate Mackey relied upon the Weaver investigation. CP 56-57. Mackey conceded that "improperly discounting sales at Home Depot would be a reason why someone could be terminated." CP 45. As a result, Mackey was required to provide evidence of pretext. She failed to do so.

A plaintiff can demonstrate pretext by showing that the employer's articulated reasons for the adverse employment action against her: (1) had no basis in fact; (2) were not really the motivating factors for the employer's decision adversely affecting his/her employment; (3) lacked temporal connection to the employer's decision; or (4) were not used by the employer as motivating factors in its employment decisions affecting other similarly-situated employees. *Kuyper v. State*, 79 Wn. App. 732, 738, 904 P.2d 793 (1995). In other words, to prove pretext Mackey must do more than merely question Home Depot's justification. She must affirmatively prove that her disability "was at the heart of [its] termination decision." *St. Mary's Hnr. Ctr. v. Hicks*, 509 U.S. 502, 540-41 (1993).

Mackey did not address any of the above-mentioned factors at the trial court, at the Court of Appeals, or in her Petition. Mackey's failure to establish pretext is fatal to her claim. There is simply no evidence that her disability "was at the heart of" Beaubian's termination decision—or played any role in it whatsoever. Where, as here, an employee's "evidence of pretext is weak or the employer's nonretaliatory evidence is strong, summary judgment is appropriate." *Milligan v. Thompson*, 110 Wn. App. 628, 638 (2002). The Court of Appeals' Opinion was therefore entirely consistent with established case law. Mackey does not argue otherwise.

Moreover, there are several reasons why Mackey could never establish pretext. **First,** Mackey conceded to violations of store policy by admitting that her accounts showed "double dipping" discounts. CP 105 (admitting during investigation "that there was accidental 'double dipping [discounts]' on some of my sold quotes...."). **Second,** Mackey admitted that she had no evidence that the decision-maker, Beaubian, discriminated against her, or was motivated by anything other than the investigation which found she had improperly discounted. **Third,** Mackey offered no evidence whatsoever to rebut either (a) the good faith nature of the investigation into her discount practices, or (b) the suspicious violations of store policy that triggered investigations in the first place.

Indeed, Mackey did not dispute that she was caught carrying a large wrapped bundle of cash in the manager's office (in violation of company policy), or that she improperly entered a transaction under another employee's identification number (another violation of company policy). CP 80. These obvious violations of company policy triggered a preliminary investigation by Mackey's manager, and a second investigation by Weaver. CP 80, CP 82. By failing to rebut the legitimate and undisputed causes of Home Depot's investigations, Mackey failed to establish pretext.

In addition, and in any event, even if Home Depot incorrectly concluded that Mackey violated Home Depot policy by giving double discounts, the Opinion is still entirely consistent with well-settled Washington law. Courts will not second guess the wisdom of the decision-maker. *Wash. Fed. of St. Employees v. St. Personnel Bd.*, 29 Wn. App. 818, 820, 630 P.2d 951 (1981) (recognizing "the courts are ill-equipped to act as super personnel agencies"). Thus, the question was "not whether the employer's reasons for a decision [were] right," but whether Mackey offered facts disputing Home Depot's showing that it honestly believed the reason for its actions. *Domingo v. Boeing Empl. Cred. Un.*, 124 Wn. App. 71, 84 n.26, 98 P.3d 1222 (2004).

Even if Mackey had been able to create a question of fact on the accuracy of the Weaver investigation, her claims would fail anyway because it is equally undisputed that Home Depot relied exclusively upon that investigation for its termination decision. The investigation established a good faith basis, and honest belief by Home Depot, that Mackey had given improper double discounts violating company policy—whether she did or not. Here, too, there is no evidence that the investigators had prior knowledge of Mackey's allegations, proving without dispute the good-faith basis of the investigation. Mackey has no evidence the investigation could have been tainted.

Mackey's *post hac* attempt to dispute the investigation and its conclusions does not render the investigation a bad-faith exercise, nor does it color the ultimate decision-makers' reliance on it when they terminated Mackey's employment. As already discussed, Mackey admitted to double-dipping. CP 47, 82. Mackey also admitted that Weaver treated her fairly and that the decision-makers who fired her treated her fairly as well. CP 51, 56-57. Thus, by Mackey's own admissions, there was no genuine issue of material fact regarding whether Home Depot's investigation, and therefore its reasons for termination, was performed in good faith. This is dispositive of her case.

Not surprisingly, Mackey fails to cite any contrary Washington case law. See RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). Even if they mattered, and they don't, the federal cases Mackey cites do not help her either. Four of the cases—Hubbell v. FedEx SmartPost, Inc., Stallings v. Hussman Corp., Yazdian v. ConMed Endoscopic Techs. Inc., and Daoud v. Avamere Staffing, LLC—are easily distinguishable because none of them involved undisputed facts establishing that the employer had a good faith basis or an honest belief that the employees had violated company policies.

Three others—*Toppert v. Northwest Mechanical, Inc., Mastro v. Potomac Elec. Power Co.*, and *Trujillo v. Pacificorp*—are equally inapposite because each involved evidence that the employer's investigation was highly irregular, flawed, or tainted, thereby raising questions regarding the credibility of the employer's good faith belief. But there is no similar evidence of a flawed investigation in this record. In fact, Mackey's testimony shows exactly the opposite: she admitted that the investigator, Weaver, always treated her fairly. CP 57.

Finally, Mackey argues that she had a positive employment history at Home Depot, and her history should have created an issue of fact on pretext. As with the other federal cases, Mackey's reliance on *Ridout v*. *JBS USA, LLC*, 716 F.3d 1079 (8th Cir. 2013), is misguided. In finding a genuine issue of fact on the question of pretext, the *Ridout* court noted

that, in contrast to the plaintiff's evidence of having received satisfactory reviews for over forty years, the employer could "offer no specific examples and no contemporaneous evidence" of declining job performance. *Id.* at 1084. Unlike *Ridout*, Home Depot produced substantial contemporaneous evidence supporting the reasons for Mackey's termination, and she concedes that she "was terminated for conflict of interest and failure to act with honesty and integrity." CP 45.

In sum, Mackey fails to find any conflict between the Opinion and any Washington (or federal) precedent, nor does she explain how her case raises any issue of substantial public importance. RAP 13.4(b). She cannot. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Mackey's pretext and common law wrongful discharge claims under Washington law because undisputed evidence shows that Home Depot had a non-discriminatory and good faith basis for Mackey's termination.

B. Mackey Failed to Present Evidence that Home Depot Did Not Reasonably Accommodate Her Lifting Restriction.

The Court of Appeals' rejection of Mackey's failure to accommodate claim was likewise entirely consistent with established Washington law and undisputed facts. Employers have an affirmative duty to accommodate an employee's disability. RCW 49.60.180(2); *LaRose v. King County*, 8 Wn. App. 2d 90, 125, 437 P.3d 701 (2019). "A reasonable accommodation must allow the employee to work in the environment and

perform the essential functions of her job without substantially limiting symptoms." *Frisino v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 160 Wn. App. 765, 777-78, 249 P.3d 1044 (2011). Where multiple potential methods of accommodation exist, the employer is entitled to select the appropriate method. *Id.* at 779.

An employer "must be able to ascertain whether its efforts at accommodation have been effective," and therefore an employee "has a duty to communicate to the employer whether the accommodation was effective." *Id.* at 783. If the employee does not communicate to the employer that an accommodation was not effective, he or she cannot maintain a failure to accommodate claim. *See id.*; *see also Gamble v. City of Seattle*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 883, 891-92, 431 P.3d 1091 (2018), *review denied*, 193 Wn.2d 1006 (2019) (framing the issue as to whether the employer was on notice that its previous accommodations were no longer reasonably accommodating the employee's disability and noting the employee's duty to inform the employer that the accommodations were lacking).

No authority supports Mackey's suggestion that Home Depot failed to accommodate her because it could have provided additional staff to assist her. "The [WLAD] does not require an employer to offer the employee the precise accommodation he or she requests." *Doe v. Boeing Co.*, 121 Wn.2d 8, 20, 846 P.2d 531 (1993). Moreover, Mackey admitted

¹ Mackey's citation to *Kermani v. International Health Care Props. XXIII Ltd Pshp.*, 94 Wn. App. 1060 (1999) (unpublished), for this proposition can be rejected on both

that Home Depot allowed her to assign her lifting duties to her coworkers, and that she never told anyone that she was unable to find another employee to help. CP 52-53, 98, 99. Thus, it is undisputed that Home Depot did reasonably accommodate Mackey and was never notified that she wanted or needed any other form of accommodation. *See, e.g.*, *Harrell v. Wash. St. ex rel. Dep't of Soc. Health Servs.*, 170 Wn. App. 386, 410, 285 P.3d 159 (2012) (no liability where employee fails to take advantage of reasonable accommodation). For this reason too, the Opinion is entirely correct and satisfies no basis for this Court's review.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Opinion is neither novel nor unprecedented. It will have no impact on other proceedings or the development of Washington employment law generally. On the contrary, the Opinion follows well-established law of this state, and raises no issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b). At best, Mackey simply argues that the trial court and Court of Appeals misapplied established law in her case. But they didn't. The undisputed facts demonstrate that Home Depot was justified in

r

procedural and substantive grounds. As an unpublished opinion, it has no precedential value and cannot serve as source of conflict between the Opinion and a "published decision." RAP 13.4(b)(2). Indeed, it is improper for Mackey to cite the case at all. *See* GR 14.1(a). In any event, this case is nothing like *Kermani*, in which the defendant employer was chronically understaffed and an issue of fact existed regarding the feasibility of hiring staff to appropriately accommodate the plaintiff's disability.

terminating Mackey's employment for non-discriminatory and nonpretextual violations of company policy. The Petition should be denied.